THE ROOTS OF CLARENDON

By
Dorothea E. Abbott

At the turn of the twentieth century a twenty-five acre tract of land situated in
Alexandria County, now Arlington County*, on the north side of the Georgetown-
Ballston Road, (later renamed Wilson Boulevard) was surveyed for the ‘‘Plan of
Clarendon.”’?

The original Clarendon site was located in the northwest section of the five hundred
acre Northern Neck land grant to William Struttfield of Westmoreland County.
William Struttfield had applied for a ‘‘certain quantity of land’’ in Stafford County at
the Proprietor’s Office on November 12, 1707. The agent representing the Pro-
prietor(s) at that time was probably Robert Carter. The Proprietors were Margaret,
Lady Culpepper, and the 5th Lord Fairfax and his wife Katherine.

William Struttfield obtained a warrant from the Proprietor’s Office for laying out a
survey. Thomas Gregg surveyed the land situated on the Potomac River. The
surveyor began at the mouth of a small run called Wankapin (Wampakan) Branch,
renamed Rocky Run, at the lower end of the land of Major Thomas Owsley. The line
extended west along Owsley’s land six hundred fifteen poles. From this corner the
line extended south one hundred thirty poles to the land of Robert Alexander, then
easterly along Alexander’s line to the Potomac River six hundred fifteen poles, and
from that corner on the Potomac River north one hundred thirty poles to the
beginning.

The agent accepted the survey and William Struttfield’s Northern Neck land grant
was recorded in Book 3, page 227, on September 2, 1709. The land was not given free
and clear to the grantee. There were several restrictions that a grantee had to fulfill to
receive a clear title to his land.

The Proprietors of the Northern Neck required an annual rent — in essence a
quitrent existed on the land. For every fifty acres one shilling sterling was to be paid to
the Proprietors on the feast day of St. Michael, the archangel.

In the early days of issuing land grants the collection of the rents was of great
financial importance to the Proprietor. The quitrent placed a cloud upon the title. To
remove this cloud and to receive a clear title to the land the Proprietor gave the grantee
three years in which to settle on his land and raise crops. If the rent was not paid for
two years the Proprietor’s agent would reissue the grant.

In 1733 Anthony Carpenter, the eldest surviving son of Elizabeth Struttfield

* 1920 - name changed to Arlington County
1847 - retroceded to Virginia
1801 - formed as Alexandria County of the District of Columbia
The land upon which Arlington is situated was previously part of the following larger counties:
1742-1801 Fairfax
1731-1742 Prince William
1664-1731 Stafford
1653-1664 Westmoreland
1648-1653 Northumberland
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William Struttfield and Daniel Jennings land grants as outlined on a portion of the 1985 Arlington County
Map. (Broken lines indicate Jennings land). The Struttfield and Jennings grants were taken from Don
Wise's 1976 Bicentennial Edition of Land Grants. Heavily outlined area in the upper right hand comer of
the Struttfield land grant is Clarendon’s twenty-five acres.
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Carpenter, William Struttfield’s only daughter and heir, sold the land to Francis
Awbrey, of Prince William County, for fifty pounds sterling.?

Following the purchase of the former Struttfield land grant Francis Awbrey made
application to the Virginia General Assembly for a license to have a ferry from his
land to Maryland. The Assembly by an enactment of 1738 appointed Francis
Awbrey, among others, to operate ferries on the rivers of Virginia. The enactment
also stated *‘that public ferries be constantly kept at the places herein named, and that
the rates for passing on the said ferries would be as follows: seven pence and a half
penny for a man, and seven pence and a half penny for a horse, and so on. Francis
Awbrey’s ferry would be on the Potomac River from his plantation in the County of
Prince William over to Maryland.”’4

The ferry was operated from the Virginia shore on the Little River opposite
Analostan (Mason’s, later Theodore Roosevelt) Island to the mouth of Rock Creek.
Ferrymen were also authorized to establish an ‘‘ordinary’’ sometimes called an inn or
tavern at the ferry landing to accommodate people and animals. The ordinary was
licensed and by law had fixed rates that could be charged. Present day Wilson
Boulevard, formerly the Ballston-Georgetown Road, was also known as Awbrey’s
Road.” This road with its very steep grades was carved out of forested areas by inland
plantation owners making their way to the Awbrey ferry landing. The presence of
Awbrey’s ferry provided access to northern Virginia from Maryland thereby opening
the area to commerce and development.

Francis Awbrey owned thousands of acres in northern Virginia. He developed
many of the tracts he purchased; therefore, he was not just another land speculator. He
was a tobacco inspector at Pohick, and a Sheriff of Prince William County in 1739.
As a member of the Truro Vestry (Episcopal Church) he supervised the building of a
chapel for the Parish which was near his home. This was the first church building of
any kind to be erected within the bounds of the present Loudoun County. In 1926 the
site was marked with a stone monument. ¢

It is interesting to note that in the will of Francis Awbrey (1690-1741) he devised
the Struttfield five hundred acres between two of his seven sons, Richard and John.
Richard inherited fifty acres on which the ferry and ordinary were kept, and John
inherited the remaining four hundred fifty acres.” Richard Awbrey predeceased his
brother, John. Richard’s will devised his fifty acres to John.

John Awbrey’s will of February 5, 1743 devised the fifty acres where the ferry and
ordinary were located to his wife’s daughter, Hannover. Awbrey appointed Richard
Boggess to run the business until Hannover attained the age of eighteen when he was
to turn the property over to her. Awbrey’s wife, Mary, was expecting another child at
the time of his death. His will stipulated that if this child lived it was to inherit his
additional four hundred fifty acres. The child did not survive; therefore, the land was
divided between the two daughters, Hannover and Frances.®

In November of 1767 Philip Ellis and his wife, Frances (Frances Awbrey) sold
their two hundred twenty-four acres to George Mason for sixty pounds sterling, and
Owen Bradie and his wife, Hannover (Hannover Awbrey) sold their two hundred
seventy-six acres to Mason for ninety pounds sterling. George Mason’s will devised
the five hundred acres to his son John in 1792.°
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What is most puzzling is that a Northern Neck land grant for the fifty acre tract
containing the ferry and ordinary was made to Daniel Jennings, a surveyor of Fairfax
County, probably in error, as waste land on March 22, 1744.1° There is no record that
Mr. Jennings returned the land, nor when Awbrey’s Ferry ceased operating.
However, in 1748 George Mason received a charter to operate a ferry from Maryland.
The ferry crossed the Potomac River from High Street in Georgetown to Mason’s
Island.!!

John Mason (1766-1849) married Anna Maria Murray of Annapolis, Maryland in
1796. They had ten children. Mason’s inheritance included properties in
Georgetown, the District of Columbia, and Virginia, and Mason’s Island. Mason
built a summer residence on the island in the early 1800s. In 1805 he had a causeway
built to connect the island with the Virginia shore.!?

By an enactment of the Virginia General Assembly in 1798 John Mason was given
approval to establish a town on ninety acres of land. This acreage subsequently
became Rosslyn. Mason had lots, streets and alleys laid out for his proposed town
which was to be named South Haven. Several houses were built in South Haven near
the ferry, but the town Mason envisioned never materialized. !

As a result of a succession of business reverses John Mason borrowed large sums of
money from the Bank of the United States in Washington, D.C. These business
problems eventually led to his financial downfall as Mason was unable to pay back the
money on the promissory notes from the bank. In time the bank took over Mason’s
properties in Washington, D.C. and the eighteen hundred twenty-two acres in
Virginia, with one exception: Mason was able to retain a farm of three hundred acres
four miles west of Alexandria called Clermont.!* Mason’s loss during the years

_1825-1833 was not only the land but all the improvements which included farms,
farm houses, outbuildings, mills, the town of South Haven, which was also described
in deeds as West Haven, the ferry, the ferry landing, and in Washington, numerous
lots, houses and business properties. !°

The president and directors of the Bank of the United States named their cashier of
the Office of Discounts and Deposits as trustee for the disposition of the Mason
properties. !¢ In 1836 a survey was made of the eighteen hundred twenty-two acres in
Virginia. The surveyor, Lewis Carberry, subdivided the land into sixty-nine parts
with forty-three being quarry lots on the river bank, and twenty-six lots or sections
inland. !’

Section 15 and the south part of Section 9 were purchased by Robert Cruitt on
September 28, 1847 from Robert Widdicomb for $1698.93. Widdicomb bought it
from the bank.'® Lot 5 of Section 15 containing approximately thirty-four acres was
the site of present day Clarendon.

The owners of Lot 5 between 1856-1870 were Amos Denham of Loudoun County;
Andrew Hoover; his son, Andrew P. Hoover; Jonah D. Hoover, who paid $68.00 per
acre; Josias Harrison Knott, who paid $3393.75; and Arthur S. Nesmith, who paid
$4000.00. With the exception of Denham all the owners were from Washington. !°

Mary E. Nesmith, the widow of Arthur S. Nesmith, sold twenty-five of the
approximate thirty-four acres to Robert Sprague Hall of Boston, Massachusetts, on
October 18, 1897 for $8000.00. Shortly after Hall purchased the land he sold it to
Robert Treat Paine, Jr. also from Boston. Paine had the land subdivided into lots and
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streets and dedicated his Plan of Clarendon on March 31, 1900 in accordance with
Chapter 483 under the Acts of the Assembly of Virginia of 1887 and 1888.2°
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Robert T. Paine, Jr. employed Wood, Harmon and Company of Washington to
handle the sale of his land. A promotional brochure in the Arlington Historical
Society’s Archives gives insight to the sales technique used by the real estate
company.

The brochure emphasized Clarendon’s natural features, its accessibility to
Washington, and its ideal suburban location which offered home seekers as perfect a
place to live as could be found anywhere near Washington.
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The following incentives were used to stimulate the immediate development of
Clarendon:

It

(38

The first twenty-tive people buying property who agreed to begin building by
June | and to occupy their houses by November 1, were to be given cash
prizes of $100.00 to $300.00.

Commuters to Washington were to be given free trolley rides for the first two
years of their residence in Clarendon. The Aqueduct Bridge which was
subsequently replaced by Key Bridge was only eight minutes by trolley from
Clarendon.

. All improvements including gravel roads and sidewalks were provided free

of charge by the developer.

. Lot owners by paying fifty cents a year per lot to the Clarendon Improvement

Society were promised that there would be continued care of lots and streets
keeping them in park-like condition.
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The balance of Lot 5 containing almost nine acres was sold by Mary E. Nesmith on
June 8, 1911 to George E. Garrett for $10,000.00. Garrett subdivided this land which
became Section 2 of Clarendon.?!
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The boundaries of the original Clarendon have spread out in all directions over the
years, and it has changed from its rural-suburban status to being part of the
Metropolitan Washington area.

It has been inferred that Clarendon was named in honor of the Earl of Clarendon.
However, there is no proof that this is the case. It is interesting to note that Robert
T.P. Storer of Beverly, Massachusetts advised me that his grandfather Robert Treat
Paine, Jr. lived near a street named Clarendon in Boston. It was Paine who used the
name Clarendon for the first time when he developed the twenty-five acre tract. Paine
was a descendant of Robert Treat Paine one of the signers of the Declaration of
Independence.

On the off chance that Clarendon was named in honor of the Earl of Clarendon I did
a little more research and obtained the following information.

About two and a half miles east of Salisbury, England, are the ruins of Clarendon
Palace. It was at Clarendon Palace in 1164 A.D. that the first important legislative
enactments fundamental in the history of English criminal law were written. These
enactments are often referred to as the Constitutions of Clarendon. Excavation in
1934-37 located the dais of the great hall and a tile kiln, the only medieval non-
monastic example in England, but the site of the palace and the royal hunting box
(small country house) are overgrown and visitors are not welcome.?2

Salisbury Cathedral was another of Henry III’s great architectural works. He could
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watch the progress of the building (1250-1258) from his nearby palace of
Clarendon.?

The first Earl of Clarendon, Edward Hyde, (1609-1674) was a lawyer, a statesman,
and an historian. He wrote the History of the Rebellion, and the Clarendon Papers in
which he discussed various important acts of Parliament. He was appointed High
Chancellor of England by Charles II in 1657. He was made Chancellor of the
University of Oxford (1660-67). The estate of Cornbury was presented to him by the
king when he was created viscount. He was mortgagee of the royal domain of
Clarendon (from Charles II) from which he took his earldom. He became Earl of
Clarendon on April 20, 1661. In 1667 he was impeached for high treason and spent
his remaining years in Rouen, France. His body was brought to England and buried in
Westminster Abbey .2

One interesting sidelight that I found was that Thomas Ludwell, Secretary of State
in Virginia under Berkeley in 1666 was writing to Lord Arlington of the Board of
Trade and Lord Clarendon and Lord Berkeley of Stratton on such subjects as the
organization of government in Virginia, the fear of proprietary government, tobacco
problems, the exploring expedition of 1669-70, and the conjectures as to the
proximity of the western sea.?’

In all there have been eleven earls of Clarendon, four with the surname Hyde, and
seven with the surname Villiers. The present Earl of Clarendon is George Frederick
Laurence Hyde Villiers who was born on February 3, 1933.2¢

Perhaps some day material will come to light that will conclusively establish a
stronger connection.
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